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Allan, John  ; Grain Merchant and Shipowner, Portsoy.    1802 -1876

Born in Rothiemay to parents Alexander Allan and Jannet Stuart.  Christened 7th. November 1802.

Married Anne Robb daughter of James Robb, farmer, on the 19th. May 1825

Died  26th. July 1876.  Came to reside in Portsoy in 1846 when he bought the bone mill and also became tenant of the meal mill.  Besides the heavy business in grain and manures, the firm became largely engaged as shipowners, herring curers, and as coal, wood, and pavement merchants.  Mr. Allan's son Alexander, a partner in the business, died on the 15th February 1875.
 . . . . . . . . . .

Banffshire Reporter Friday July 28th. 1876:  -

Death of John Allan


It is this week our sorrowful duty to have to record another heavy blow and sore bereavement which has fallen to the lot of our small community.   At half past eleven o'clock on the night of Wednesday last (26th. July), our justly esteemed townsman, Mr. John Allan, Burnside, calmly breathed his last.  The intimation of his death, though not unlooked for, as it was generally known that he was slowly sinking under the effects of the agonising disease of which he was the victim, will cause a pang of deep regret to be felt over a very wide district of the country, for of him it might with perfect truth have been said, that it had been given to very few to live more highly respected or to die more deeply regretted, even although he had reached the ripe old age of 73 years - an age which but the fewest number survive.


Of Mr. John Allan it may be most truly and without ostentation said that we shall never see his like again.  He belonged to an age and a class of whom but the fewest number remain until this day.  In him was most fully exemplified the saying that "an honest man's the noblest work of God."  His maxim in business always was that "honesty is the best policy," and in his many business transactions, the clever man of sharp practice would have gained no more than would have be fully vouchsafed to the most innocent and simple-minded child.  Nor did he lose his reward, for to this sterling regard for truth, honesty, and upright dealing may be attributed the steady increase and expansion to the business he conducted until it reached a magnitude which even he himself could never even so much as dreamed or anticipated.


Mr. Allan was a native of Rothiemay, and in his earlier years was engaged in agricultural pursuits, as probably his father had been before him.  He began his business career by purchasing small quantities of grain, on commission, for the late Mr. Allan, baker in Banff.  Soon after he commenced to buy more largely on his own account; but though he did the principal part of his business - more especially as regards storing and shipment - at Portsoy, he for a good few years continued to reside on his farm at Barnethills, in Rothiemay.  In this way he was engaged from the year 1833, when he first began to buy for Mr. Allan, until the year 1846, in which year he came to reside in Portsoy; but even then he may have regarded Rothiemay as his home, as for a time his amiable partner in life, Mrs. Allan, who died some years ago, very deeply mourned by all who had the pleasure of knowing her, still continued to reside there.


But the steady increase of his business here finally induced him to become a permanent resident in the town.   About the time he did so he became the proprietor of the bone mill, which had been shortly before started by Mr. John Smith, and also tenant of the meal mill.  Since then his firm have carried on a large manure business, his well known character for honesty being everywhere accepted as a sure warranty of the purity of his manures, which have upon all occasions found a ready marker, and very deservedly continue to do so.  After settling in Portsoy, his transactions in grain would seem to have greatly increased, as, year by year, in the evidence taken in striking the fiars prices for the county, it was seen that in amount, more especially as regards oats, they exceeded those of all other grain merchants in the county put together.  Besides their very heavy business in grain and manures, the firm have been largely engaged as shipowners, herring curers, and as coal, wood, and pavement merchants.   So great was the expansion of the business,  that a good many years ago Mr, Allan was induced to adopt as his partner and assistant in conducting it, his son, Mr. Alex. Allan, whose un-looked for death, on the 15th. of February last, caused such universal and deep-felt sorrow.   In short, it may be truly said that, but for the business carried on by the firm, the trade of the port would have sunk to the level of that of any ordinary fishing village. 


Mr. Allan although he, like many of his contemporaries, had derived but few educational advantages, was a man of sound judgement and good practical knowledge, and was, besides, possessed of that best of all education, good common sense, combined with sterling honesty of purpose.  He was a Justice of the Peace, but even after he had attained to a position of affluence, he never ostentatiously thrust himself forward in public matters, but always took a lively and intelligent interest in all that related to the good of the town.  In the social circle he was much and deservedly beloved alike by rich and poor, for to the latter he was always ready to give a helping hand in the hour of need; while those with whom he was more intimately connected on all occasions found his house the peaceful abode of unostentatious hospitality.  He as an elder of the Free Church, which in him has lost a true, able, and valued friend; but although following the dictates of his conscience, he never intolerantly disagreed with the religious views of others, and his eldest son, the Rev. James Allan, is now the much respected minister of the Established Church at Keith.  His family consisted of two sons and three daughters, two of whom - Mr. Alexander and Mrs. Paterson - are no more; and three of whom - the Rev. James, Mrs. Imlach, and Mrs. Cowie (Newcastle) - still survive, and were all with him in his last moments.


It is arranged that his remains, shall be interred, beside those of Mrs. Allan, in the churchyard of his native parish of Rothiemay, on Tuesday next; and doubtless there will be many who will embrace the opportunity of paying a last tribute of respect to the memory of one so much and so justly respected and so deeply regretted.
Andrew, Alexander.   Clock and Watchmaker

Christened 8th  February 1813

Son of George Andrew, feuer Portsoy, and Ann Watt.

Business premises in South High Street.

A number of his clocks are still held in the North East of Scotland
Badenoch, Sir John,  Physician, Oxford.   1920- 1996

John Badenoch, son of Dr. David Badenoch, was a grandson of John Badenoch, Auctioneer, Tower House, Cullen Street Portsoy.  

Began his career in academic medicine in Leslie Witt’s department in Oxford. Won a prestigious Rockefeller Student’s Fellowship which took him to Cornell Medical School in New York in 1941.   Appointed a consultant in 1966, he found that his talents in committee work soon made him a leading figure on the Board of Governors of the United Oxford Hospitals, and most importantly in planning the new John Radcliffe Hospital and the new clinical school at Cambridge.  All this was combined with a subwardenship at Merton College and service in the University, and the Royal College of Physicians.

Awarded his knighthood in 1984.

In 1985 he headed a government inquiry into Legionnaires Disease

After his retirement in 1985, Sir John served on the General Medical Council and as chairman of the Joint Committee on Vaccination and Immunisation at the Department of Health

When he died he left a wife, Anne, two daughters, and two sons.    Buried in Portsoy Cemetery.
Bond, Elizabeth, Schoolteacher.       ? – 1839

Miss Bond taught at the Ladies School which was situated on the site now occupied by the Boyne hotel.

Her father was a builder in Fortrose. 

Wrote a work entitled “Letters of a Village Governess” descriptive of rural scenery and manners, with anecdotes of Highland Children etc., (2 vols. 8vo, 1814).   Hugh Miller said that the book was offensive to many local magnates, who found counterparts of themselves in its pages.

The following inscription appears on a memorial to Miss Bond in Portsoy cemetery :-  “Erected to the memory of Elizabeth Bond, long a respected teacher of youth, who died at Portsoy, on Ascension Day, 1839, by her affectionate pupil, Colina Watson, in grateful remembrance of her disinterested friendship and man amiable qualities.”

Brebner, Alexander, Merchant, Shipowner and Smuggler, Portsoy.    1714  -   C1784  

Alexander Brebner, son of David Brebner, merchant in Fordyce, was christened on the 23rd. February 1714.    Set up business in Portsoy as a merchant and shipowner and prospered considerably.  Built and resided in the large house next to the Marble Shop overlooking the Old Harbour.  Possessed the estates of Brackenhills and Pitgaveney and became known familiarly as "Laird Brebner."     Kept his own lawyer. He had his own carriage and it was long remarked that his daughter had the first umbrella to be seen in Portsoy.

His vessels generally delivered their cargoes at the small pier the north side of the Old Harbour, which was named “Bremner’s Pier,” a name it retained until it was demolished.

Eventually became involved in tedious and expensive lawsuits and most of his ships were lost by storm, taken by the privateers or captured by revenue officers.   He was finally reduced to bankruptcy and died in prison.  Thought to have died between 1781 and 1784.

Brown, Patrick  : Merchant, Shipowner and Smuggler, Portsoy.    C1735  -  C1790

Born in the Parish of Bellie, Moray

Married Anne Morrison on the 29th. July 1755
Was a partner in the following companies :-


1.  Patrick Brown and James Brown


2.  Patrick Brown and Son, Merchants

Owned property in the Backgreen and Shorehead

Was declared bankrupt in 1785.
Calder, Marcus  :    Printer and Publisher :  1857 - 1932

Born to parents Marcus Calder, tailor, and Isabella McAllum in 1857 in Wick

A compositor with the “Northern Ensign” at Wick.   Moved to Banff with his brother George to work for the “Banffshire Journal”

With his brother George bought over from Thomas Anderson, the business of printer and publisher of the Portsoy newspaper the “Banffshire Reporter” in June 1884.    This weekly newspaper was discontinued in 1920

Mr. Calder took an active part in the foundation of St. Stephen’s Lodge of Freemasons in 1887 and had been its secretary since 1912 and for a number of years he was also secretary of the local branch of the Eastern Star.  For long he was an elder  and session clerk of the former U.P. Church and continued that work in the West Church

Married Isabella Flett, daughter of Alexander Flett, blacksmith, and Isabella Coghill. 

Isabella Flett died at Church St Portsoy on the 15th. November 1893 aged 33 

Married Georgina H.D. Edward (Daughter of Thomas Edward, Naturalist, Banff) at Banff on 15th. July 1897. 

Georgina H.D. Edward died at Church St., Portsoy on the 6th. August 1913 aged 55.

Married Isabella McIvor, daughter of Alexander McIvor, Farmer, and Catherine Brotchie at Wick on 16th. February 1923.

Isabella McIvor died at Church St., Portsoy on the  16th February 1946 aged 82.
Marcus Calder died at Church St Portsoy on the 16th. November 1932 aged 75

Banffshire Journal, Tuesday, November 23rd 1932: -

Late Marcus Calder - The whole community regrets the passing of Mr. Marcus Calder (on 16th. Nov. 1932) who had been for many years associated with its activities?  Mr. Calder, who had reached the age of 75, was born in Wick and became a compositor in the office of the “Northern Ensign” there.  For a few years he was in the composing room of the “Banffshire Journal” where also was his brother George who is now in Toronto.  As time went on he took over from the late Mr. Thomas Anderson (in June 1884) the business of printer and publisher of the “Banffshire Reporter” in Portsoy, a newspaper that was discontinued about fourteen years ago.


Mr. Calder took an active part in the foundation of St. Stephen’s Lodge of Freemasons in 1887 and had been its secretary since 1912 and for a number of years he was also secretary of the local branch of the Eastern Star.  For long he was an elder and session clerk of the former U.P. Church and continued that work in the West Church.  In a variety of ways he played a useful part in the work of the community and his death is a matter of warm regret on the part of many.   He had been in Portsoy since 1885.


He was a man, distinctly, with a mind of his own. He held high ideals on many things and Church matters interested him closely.


Mr. Calder was three times married.  His second wife was the daughter of Thomas Edward, the Banff naturalist, whose Life was written by Dr. Smiles.   He is survived by his wife and a daughter, his only son being killed in the War.

There was a large company at the funeral on Saturday to Portsoy cemetery where the Rev. J.R. Brown, Chaplain, conducted the Masonic funeral.  The elders and managers of the West Church attended in a body, as did also the Lodges of the Freemasons and Oddfellows.
Calder, George    Printer    1850 – 1934

Brother of the above Marcus Calder.

After the partnership with his brother was dissolved he started business on his own account at the Square, Portsoy.  Went to Canada in 1912 and eventually became proprietor of the Times Publishing Co in Toronto.   Died in Toronto in Feb/Mar 1934.

Founder member of St. Stephen’s Lodge of Freemasonry at Portsoy.  Deacon of the Free Church

                             Banffshire Journal, Tuesday, March 13th 1934: -

Late George Calder - From a Toronto newspaper to hand we learn with regret of the death of Mr. George Calder, printer, at the advanced age of 84.  He was proprietor of the Times Publishing Co. in Toronto, in which he was actively engaged until a few weeks before his death, having been altogether for 71 years in the printing trade. Some ten years ago Mr. and Mrs. Calder celebrated their golden wedding.  Mrs. Calder predeceased her husband by three years.  There are three sons and four daughters surviving.


Mr. Calder was a native of Wick, where he served his apprenticeship, being afterwards for a number of years in the office of the “Banffshire Journal.”    With his late brother, Marcus, he came to Portsoy and took over the business of Mr. Thomas Anderson, and carried on the “Banffshire Reporter.”  Later the partnership was dissolved and Mr. Calder started business on his own account in premises in the Square and carried on until he went to Canada and settled in Toronto 22 years ago.  While in Portsoy he took a great interest in Freemasonry and was one of the founder members of St. Stephen’s Lodge.  He held the office of secretary for over 25 years.  He was also interested in Church affairs and held the office of deacon in the then Free Church.   His interest in Church matters continued during his stay in Toronto, being an office-bearer in the Glebe Presbyterian Church up to the time of Union.
Campbell, James JP D.L.  L.L.D :  Factor to Lady Seafield -  1842 - 1925 

Father :- Donald Campbell

Born on the farm of Annat in Fortingall, Perthshire.  One of a family of thirteen.  

Married Charlotte Rose Robertson daughter of Capt. Alexander Robertson.

Died in Edinburgh on the 14th. February 1925 in his 83rd year.

Worked in Perthshire, Dumfriesshire, Cumberland, Kirkcudbrightshire and Wigtownshire before coming to Cullen in 1888.

Served on the County Council of Banff and was appointed County Convener in 1896.  Held over twenty other public offices in the County of Banff.

Was mainly responsible for the building of an  isolation hospital in Portsoy.  Contributed £3000 towards the cost of the building - afterwards increased to £4000 - which was duly named Campbell Hospital at the opening ceremony.

Dr. Campbell also took a keen interest in educational and church matters.

Cumberland, Duke of  :   Soldier :   1721  -  1765

William Augus was the 3rd. son of George III

A General with the nickname "Butcher."

Commanded the Government forces that passed through Portsoy on the 11th. April 1746 on their way to do battle at Culloden.

Soldiers of the King's Horse Regiment set on fire the Scottish Episcopalian Chapel which was situated between Durn House and Mill of Durn.  The Chapel was completely destroyed.
Dunbar,  Sir William,  3rd Baronet of Durn.   Jacobite       ?  -     28.01.1786

Eldest son of Sir James Dunbar and his wife Margaret Baird.

Married first Clementina Grant in 1737 and by her had three sons and four daughters.

Clementaina Grant died  on 1st June 1765.

A few months later, in the same year, he married Jane Bartlett of Banff, by whom he had no male issue.

Was Laird of the small Durn Estate at Portsoy .   The estate contained Durn House, several farms and an Episcopal Chapel on the burnside near Mill of Durn.

Joined Lord Pitsligo at Aberdeen in September 1745 but declined a commission  and served as a volunteer with the Jacobites throughout the campaign.  When followers of the Jacobite cause plundered Cullen House the Duke of Cumberland withdrew protection of the House of Durn and in consequence it suffered considerably.

The Chapel of Durn was burned down on 10th April 1846 by the Duke of Cumberland’s troops on their way to Culloden and the minister and his family had to flee for their lives.

After Culloden Sir William Dunbar was in hiding in the neighbourhood of his estate and was fortunate enough to escape capture.

Sir William Dunbar’s plea for mercy must have been successful for he returned to Durn House to pass the remaining years of his life.

The present house at Durn, is not the one in which Sir William lived, as the old house was demolished about 1770.  He died at Banff on 28th. January 1786.  Durn Estate is now part of Seafield estates, but the Baronetcy lives on.  Sir Drummond Dunbar died on the 12th. June 2000 in the Channel Islands and the Baronetcy was passed on to a son. As far as is known no Dunbars have visited the Durn area for some considerable time.

Greig, George, Dr. M.D.  1800 - 1874

Died at Burnside Cottage, Aird Street, Portsoy, on 1st. March 1874 aged 75.

Younger son of David Greig and Lilias Reid, who carried on a lucrative wine business in North High Street.

Serving as an assistant surgeon at Forres, before commencing his practice at Portsoy in 1822.

Keen observer of passing events, and had a wonderful memory for facts and events.  Wrote a history of the town of Portsoy (known as the 1843 Manuscript) which appeared in the Banffshire Reporter in 1893/94, the Banffshire Journal in 1938 and which was published in booklet form for Portsoy's tercentenary celebrations of the Old Harbour in 1993.  Portions of the manuscript also appeared in the Manuscript Magazine around the 1850s.

On Friday, the 25th. April 1862, Dr. Greig was presented with a riding pony, saddle, bridle etc by a number of local residents to celebrate the anniversary of 40 years service to the community.

Dr. Greig married Hannah Peregrine Watson a daughter of Captain Watson, R.N. of Nile Cottage, by whom, and a grown up family of sons and daughters he was survived.

Hannah Greig died 3rd. June 1882 aged 74.

Hay, George : Shipmaster and Jacobite

George Hay married Janet Findlay, daughter of James Findlay, Shipmaster, Portsoy and had a son, also named George Hay.

In February 1746 George Hay was reported to have a Lieutenant Commission from Lord John Drummond by virtue of which he raised several recruits in and around Portsoy for the Jacobites and on occasions he was to be seen marching around the town with them with the white cockade in their hats.  On the 26th February 1746 he sailed out to the bay at Portsoy to meet some vessels which he thought were French supporters of the cause. Unfortunately they were British Naval ships and he was captured by the “Shark” a sloop of war.

He was subsequently transferred to “H.M.S. Winchester” and taken to London to be committed  to the New Goal, Southwark with the prospect of a trial and public hanging.   But George Hay escaped on the dock at Tilbury and eventually found refuge in France.

Little is known of his activities after his escape but there are records of George Hay being dead by 3rd April 1754 on a legal document Ref.  SRO RS 17/7 f.416. 

Leith,  Alexander    :  Distiller.
Political activist in the latter part of the 18th. century.

At Portsoy on the 4th. July 1792 Alexander Leith headed a mob that assembled there to celebrate the Anniversary of the French Revolution which was accordingly done in the most tumultuous manner by firing cannon etc., of which a very pompous account was immediately published in the provincial newspaper called the 'Aberdeen Journal'  (which on July 18th. printed a letter dated Portsoy, July 4th. as follows :- This afternoon a flag was raised on the Schoolhill with a motto, in large capitals,  'Universal Liberty '.  A battery of five six pounders was erected and three salutes discharged under the direction of a veteran of the Artillery in presence of a numerous convention assembled around.   At every salute a grand cheer was vociferated  'Liberty ! Liberty ! Universal Liberty !'.   Towards the evening, the Friends of Liberty adjourned to the Scotch Arms Inn, where amongst a variety, the following liberal and suitable toasts were drunk :-


Universal Liberty.
The 14th July & Destruction of Despotism.


Abolition of the Slave Trade.
Abolition of the Test Act & all Penal Laws.


The French National Assembly.
The Independent Members of Parliament.


Reform of the Scottish Boroughs
M. de la Fayette.


The King of Poland
The Prince of Wales.


Mr. Fox
All Men who ever bled in the Cause of Liberty.


Mr. Wilberforce
All ladies who ever contributed to the Cause of 



Liberty.

.MacDonald, Alexander, Engineer.   1843 -1916.
Parents : - Alexander MacDonald and Jane (Jean) Garden

Alex. MacDonald was born in the Parish of Fordyce at Blackjug (Glassaugh)  and was christened on 9th April 1843  

Served as a blacksmith with his father at Blackjug Smithy

Came to Portsoy in 1878 with his brother, James MacDonald, and founded the business, MacDonald Brothers, Engineers and Agricultural Implement Makers.   

Married Jane. H. Valentine She died 25th July 1903 aged 41 years

Son Henry James MacDonald died 7th September 1903 aged 6 weeks.

Son Alexander Valentine MacDonald died  1st July 1970 aged 70 years

Twice the business premises had to be changed and on each occasion more extensive buildings had to be erected.  Among their important inventions may be mentioned the Portsoy turnip lifter, back delivery reapers, serpentine harrows and steel hay rakes.

Seafaring interests also received their attention, including auxiliary gear for the propulsion of fishing vessels, steam reversible capstans, and patent steam line haulers.

Took a great interest in the welfare of the town and district. A councillor for three years, he was also a member of the Fordyce School Board and Fordyce Parish Council.

Mr. MacDonald was survived by two sons.

Died at his residence, 22 Durn Road, Portsoy on the 20th. January 1916 aged 72 years

Banffshire Reporter, Wednesday, January 26th, 1916: - 

DEATH OF MR. ALEX. MACDONALD, ENGINEER, PORTSOY - It is with deep regret that we record the death of Mr. Alexander Macdonald, engineer, and agricultural implement maker, which took place suddenly on Thursday at his residence, 22 Durn Road, Portsoy.  Mr. Macdonald had been at work early that morning, and appeared to be in the enjoyment of his usual health.  In the forenoon, feeling cold, he came and sat down by the fireside in his office.  Shortly after, he complained that he did not feel at all well, and would go home.  Soon thereafter serious symptoms manifested themselves, and he passed away at 1.30 in the afternoon.   Mr. Macdonald was in his 73rd. year.


Mr. Macdonald was a native of the parish of Fordyce, having been born at Blackjug, where he learned the blacksmith trade with his father.  It is now 38 years since he and his brother, the late Bailie James Macdonald came to Portsoy and started the now well known business of Messrs. Macdonald Brothers, Engineers, and Agricultural Implement Makers.   To be exact the foundation of the firm was laid in 1878, and as a result of the united effort and inventive genius of the partners their career has been one round of success.  Twice the business premises were changed, and on each occasion more extensive buildings had to be erected.


The firm enjoyed the confidence of a large section of the agricultural community, and the implements are to be seen about many homesteads.  Among their important inventions may be mentioned the Portsoy turnip lifter, back delivery reapers, patent serpentine harrows and steel hay rakes, which were put on the market by the thousand.  Then there was their "Ideal Manure Distributor", and many more agricultural requirements; while seafaring interests also received their attention, including auxiliary gear for the propulsion of fishing vessels, steam reversible capstans, and patent steam line haulers.   The firm continues to enjoy a wide reputation, and the business has assumed extensive dimensions.


The gentleman just deceased travelled over a wide area in the interests of the firm, and by his straightforward and trustworthy dealings enjoyed the confidence and esteem of their numerous customers.  Genial, frank, and kindly, Mr. Alexander Macdonald found staunch friends wherever he went, and there are many who will be deeply grieved to hear of his death.

He took a great and intelligent interest in all matters pertaining to the welfare of the town and district, and in regard to public work connected therewith he did not shrink responsibility.  In the early years of the burgh he served for a term of three years on the Town Council.  He was also a member of the Fordyce School Board and of the Fordyce Parish Council for a good few years, and held office on both boards up till the time of his death.  Firm and cautious, and gifted with sound commonsense, he proved himself a very useful member on all these boards, more especially the School Board, knowing as he did so well the requirements of the parish and circumstances connected there.  All movements calculated in any way to serve and advance the public weal had his earnest and hearty support.


In politics he was an ardent Liberal, and steadily upheld that cause.  Many will regret his passing away, and by them his memory will be cherished for long.  Mr. Macdonald, who was predeceased by his wife some twelve years ago, is survived by two sons, and to them, and to his other relatives, there is extended the sincere sympathy of the community in their bereavement.  (The report goes on to describe the public funeral).
MacDonald, James, Engineer.  1848-1913  (Brother of above)

Parents : - Alexander MacDonald and Jane (Jean) Garden

Batchelor

Born in the Parish of Fordyce at Blackjug , Glassaugh on 4th January 1848.   

Served as a blacksmith with his father at Blackjug Smithy

Partner in the firm of McDonald Brothers, Foundry, Portsoy.

Served in Portsoy Town Council reaching the rank of Bailie 

Died 12th April 1913 aged 65 years

Macdonald, William : Piper at Portsoy and Jacobite.

William MacDonald’s grandfather was one of the few who had escaped massacre at Glencoe and after escaping he had settled in Portsoy and had started up business as a quarryman and polisher of Portsoy marble.


William was noted as a famous piper all over the country and was employed as the town piper at Portsoy.  The family however had Jacobite leanings and when the call came in 1745 he enlisted  as piper with Clan Fraser’s forces. 

Tradition tells how when William and his eldest son, were passing through Nairn in their flight from Culloden, they were pursued by the townspeople, the blacksmith flourishing a red hot iron, and how their long legs carried them to safety. They hid and were secretly fed for months among the caves of Portsoy in spite of the proximity of these to their narrowly watched home, until, perhaps because the loss of his eyesight during the battle was considered sufficient penalty, he was forgotten.  William’s wife died on the day of the disaster when the news of the battle reached her. William was one of the few who escaped Cumberland’s ruthless stalking of every fugitive.

Though most of the Portsoy men who fought for Prince Charlie followed Sir William Dunbar of Durn, William MacDonald being Town's Piper of Portsoy, joined the Frasers, who were Catholics to a man, and contributed a large contingent to the insurrectionary forces. The piper's office, it should be noted, was still one of high rank, and had been often hereditary. Even when no quarter was given, his life would be spared by any Highland victors, and if taken prisoner, would be treated with the utmost consideration and honour. The Hanoverian Lowland troops would have shown him no such respect, 

Before the final overthrow of the clan‑system in 1746, the family had farmed their own land near Portsoy, but of course it was confiscated because of their Jacobite connections.  Most of the family then moved from the Portsoy area to Huntly.

William MacDonald was a great-grandfather of Huntly born, George MacDonald, (1824 – 1905) the well known writer, poet and preacher.

____________
McRobie, William,  Merchant,    1828 -  1886
Born in Keith, brought up and educated at Huntly he came to Portsoy at an early age.

Married Agnes Saunders on the 29th. December 1849 at Portsoy.  She died at Portsoy on the 30th. January 1894 aged 65.

Entered into business immediately as a grocer and spirit merchant.  Business prospered in his hands, and in course of time he added branch after branch until at length he was perhaps the largest employer of labour in the district. Apart from the grocery and spirit trade, he was also a fishcurer, coal merchant, and ship-owner ; besides being lessee of the Fordyce Lime Works, as well as the Durn Quarries.

Active member of the School Board and a Director of the Harbour Committee.

Left a widow and four sons and two daughters when he died on 20th. February 1886.

                            Banffshire Reporter, Saturday, February 27th 1886: -

Death of William McRobie - Yesterday the grave closed over one who has been long and honourably connected with Portsoy.  We refer to the death of Mr. Wm. McRobie, merchant here, which took place suddenly last Monday morning.


When the tidings passed from lip to lip many were slow to believe the truth of it; but when the melancholy event became generally known it cast a deep gloom over the whole community, and many genuine and heartfelt expressions of sorrow were given vent to by both rich and poor alike, the deceased having been much and justly esteemed not only in the district, but throughout the north. 


Mr. McRobie had not been in very robust health for some considerable time, but up to the date of his death he had been able to give attention to business.   On Sunday he attended divine service, and on Monday morning rose as usual to attend to business, but while dressing he was observed to suddenly fall from a chair upon which he had been sitting.   Medical aid was at once summoned, but was of no avail, he having passed away in the course of a few minutes.


Mr. McRobie was born in Keith, but was brought up and educated at Huntly. At an early age he came to Portsoy, where he immediately commenced business on his own account, as grocer and spirit merchant.   Business prospered in his hands, and in course of time he added branch after branch until at length he was perhaps the largest employer of labour in the district.   Business seemed to be his hobby, and in everything connected therewith he was strict and prompt.  He well filled the position he occupied; and the aptitude which he possessed for business was imparted in no small degree to those he employed, in proof of which it may be mentioned that he has turned out a number of clever businessmen.  Apart from the grocery and spirit trade, he was also a fishcurer, coal merchant, and ship owner; besides being lessee of the Fordyce Lime Works, as well as of the Durn Quarries, the latter of which, however, he recently gave up.


As a private individual, Mr. McRobie was highly respected by all who knew him.   Being of a somewhat retired disposition, he never pushed himself prominently to the front.  He was an active member of the School Board at one time, and up to the time of his death was a director of the Harbour Committee.   He was at all times ready to give his support in forwarding any object calculated to benefit the community.   In politics he was a staunch Conservative, taking considerable interest in the candidature of Mr. Stormonth Darling at the late general election, and presided at a meeting of electors addressed by that gentleman in Portsoy during the contest.  His loss will be regretted by not a few, his obliging disposition and genuine integrity of character having obtained for him many attached friends.  He leaves a widow and four sons and two daughters, for whom the utmost sympathy is felt.


The funeral took place yesterday, and was largely attended, not a few from a distance being present.  The remains were interred in the Portsoy Burial Ground.
Minty, William,  Merchant   1772 - 1835

It is recorded that on the 28th March 1832, David Stevenson, mason (preses), John Fraser, weaver (treasurer) and Alexander Watson, merchant, (clerk) of the Society of the St. Stephen’s Lodge of Freemasons along with a committee of William Clark, James Scott, William McLeod, Alexander Burgess, John Brebner and Alexander Lawrence, sold the subjects belonging to them in the Square to William Minty, merchant in Portsoy for £241.  
Minty, Adam Longmore.     Merchant  1808 - 1883

Born 15th. August 1808 .   Died at North High Street, Portsoy 14th. February 1883 aged 75

Son of the above William Minty, merchant, Portsoy and his spouse Elspet Longmore.

Had an extensive merchant's business with buildings in the High Street and the Square.

Was a clothier and silk mercer and also dealt in genuine teas, wines and spirits.
Had interests in the local shipping.  Built the hall in the Square which went on to become the Town Hall, the Salvation Army Hall, etc.

Moir, James,   Colonel.    1812  -  1887

Born May 1812 at Grandholme, Donside where his father was a machinist in the Grandholme Mills.  Died at Portsoy on 3rd. October 1887.   

Started work as a clerk in a shipping office in Aberdeen, moved to Turriff and then to Portsoy in 1834 aged 22 to work with Mr. Peter Morrison, merchant.

Shortly after coming to Portsoy he married Barbara Morrison - a widow, Mrs. Donald - a sister of his employer.  This lady died in September 1870.    He subsequently married Miss Adelaide Huntley Findlay, daughter of Colonel Findlay, Nairn.  His second wife also predeceased him, having died in February 1881.  He left no issue.

He was a great pedestrian in his day, and for years is said to have walked between Portsoy and Turriff regularly every Saturday.

Succeeded Mr. Morrison in the business.  Is said to have been the first to import Peruvian Guano into Banffshire.

After only four years in Portsoy was appointed the Manager of the local branch of the North of Scotland Banking Co.

Had an interest in the fishing and agricultural industries.  He was a lessee of the salmon fishing on the Deveron and at other places.  In the shipping trade he was also largely concerned, being owner of several vessels besides holding shares in steamers.   Was a Director of the Portsoy Harbour Committee.

On the formation of the local Volunteer Company in 1860 he was appointed Captain of the Battery.  In December 1865 he was appointed Lieutenant- Colonel of the Banffshire Battalion of Volunteer Artillery.  In 1873 he retired with the rank of Colonel.

Was a Commissioner of Supply of the County and for many years discharged the duties of Justice of the peace in the County of Banff.

He, along with Messrs. Morrison, merchants, Turriff, undertook the erection of Glenglassaugh Distillery.

The Portsoy Gas Company may be said to have entirely owed its existence to Col. Moir.  He was the principal shareholder of the Company, over which he presided as Chairman.

To Col. Moir is due the honour of having introduced the sixpenny telegraph rate.  Entirely at his own expense he, in 1868-79, opened up telegraphic communication between Portsoy, Buckie and Portgordon, and over this system messages could be sent at the low rate of sixpence.  The wire was disposed of to the Government.

He took an active and prominent part in getting the Strathisla Railway extended to Portsoy.  He was deputy Chairman of the Company.   Not content with giving Portsoy railway communications southwards, he took upon himself the task of endeavouring to get a Parliamentary Bill passed for the construction of a line westwards along the coast.  In this he was successful.

A shareholder in the Banffshire Journal.   In July 1887 Colonel Moir gifted land and property in Seafield Street to the inhabitants of Portsoy as a site for a new Town Hall.
Banffshire Reporter, Wednesday October 5th 1887: -

Death of Colonel James Moir - The death of Colonel James Moir took place on Monday night at his residence, Portsoy, at eight o'clock some two months after he had a stroke of paralysis. He breathed his last at the ripe old age of 75 years, and may be said to have slept peacefully away.

Col. Moir was born in May 1812 at Grandholm, up Donside, where his father was employed as a machinist at the Grandholm Mills, of which Provost Hadden was then proprietor. From here he went to Aberdeen, where he was employed as clerk in the office of the London Shipping Company. From Aberdeen he went to Turriff where his stay was of short duration, for in 1834 we find him coming to reside in Portsoy at the aged of 22; and it is with his career from this date that we have more particularly to deal.

He came here to manage the extensive business of Mr. Peter Morrison, brother of the late Mr. Alexander Morrison, merchant, Turriff. He had early shown great aptitude for business, and with this was combined a sanguine and enthusiastic temperament which enabled him to overcome many a difficulty which to others might seem insurmountable.   In choosing a commercial life he had entered a field of labour where he was destined to make his mark and to prove himself of great usefulness. It is but the truth when we say that in order to write anything like a memoir of Col. Moir would be to write a history of every movement that has taken place in town and district for half a century back, for during all those years there has scarcely a movement of any note taken place of which he was not the originator, guiding spirit, or at least a staunch advocate.   We shall endeavour to notice a few of the leading events which his name will always be associated.

Before proceeding further, however, it may be mentioned that shortly after coming toreside

in Portsoy he married his employer's sister, Barbara Morrison, then widow Donald. This lady died in September 1870. He subsequently married Miss Adelaide Huntley Findlay, daughter of Colonel Findlay, Nairn.   His second wife also predeceased him, having died in February 1881.   He leaves no issue.

He was a great pedestrian in his day, and for years is said to have walked between Portsoy and Turriff regularly every Saturday.

On the death of Mr. Morrison, Colonel Moir succeeded to the business, which he carried on very successfully till the time of his death.   In connection with his business, he is said to have been the first to import Peruvian guano into this county. He had only been in Portsoy for about four years when he was chosen by the North of Scotland Banking Company for the position of manager of a branch opened by them there at that time.    The Company were fortunate in their selection, for a large business soon sprang up under him, and eventually the branch was submerged into a full agency, of which he continued the principal. The business of the Bank thereafter continued to make satisfactory progress. He was kind and considerate in his dealings with men of business, and did not withhold pecuniary assistance in deserving cases.

In the fishing and agricultural industries he took a great interest. He was lessee of the salmon fishings on the Deveron and at other places. In the shipping trade he was also largely concerned, being owner of several vessels, besides holding shares in steamers.

Of the Portsoy Horticultural Society he held the position of president since its formation some twelve years ago; and at the annual exhibitions of the Society he was a keen competitor. Out of respect for his memory, a concert in aid of funds of the Society which had been fixed for Friday evening has now been postponed till Friday, 14th. October. In animals and birds, of which he had a choice collection, he also took great delight.

On the formation of our local Volunteer company in 1860 he was appointed Captain of the battery, a rank which he held until December 1865, when, on the recommendation of the Lord Lieutenant of the County, he was gazetted Lieutenant Colonel of the "Banffshire Battalion of Volunteer Artillery." His promotion proves him to have been a most enthusiastic volunteer. On his retirement from the captaincy he was presented with a handsome snuffbox, which he treasured with pride. In 1873 he retired from duty with the rank of Hon. Colonel in recognition of his long and valued services in connection with the volunteer movement.   However, although he resigned, he continued to interest himself in the movement, and on special occasions never failed to appear among them in uniform, the last occasion being on the 19th. of June last, when the Portsoy Volunteers mustered for church parade, on which occasion an eloquent sermon was preached by the Rev. Mr. Gibson in the Established Church.

Deceased was also a Commissioner of Supply of the County, and for many years discharged the duties of Justice of the Peace in the parish of Fordyce.

Of the Portsoy Harbour Committee he was a director, and previous to its formation took an active if not principal part in the steps which led to the reconstruction of the harbour.

Some twelve years ago he, along with Messrs. Morrison, merchants, Turriff, undertook the erection of the Glenglassaugh Distillery, a concern which has now assumed gigantic dimensions.

Murray, George.  Artist    1875 - 1933
Born at 9 Schoolhendry Street, Portsoy  (now Institute Street) on the 24th. October 1875 and died at 10 Girdler's Road, London, on the 5th. February 1933.
Parents were W.A.M. Murray, cabinet-maker and his spouse May Grant.

Family moved to Blairgowrie around 1882.

Trained as an artist at Edinburgh and London : Travelled to Italy and spent two years on a scholarship to Spain.

Painted mainly portraits in his early years but in his professional career specialised in mural decoration and mosaic work.

Amongst his important commissions were mosaic domes at Giggleswick Church and the Ashton Memorial at Lancaster ; the Head Offices of the Hong Kong and Shanghai Bank of Shanghai ; the Institution of Chartered Accountants ; the Masonic Temple at the Criterion, Picadilly Circus ;  and the restaurant at Peter Robinson's stores in Oxford Circus ; also many important buildings in the metropolis and the provinces. His probable masterpiece was the mosaics for the Temple of the Masonic Peace Memorial in 1932 which covers an area of 4000 square feet.

Murray, W. Grant.   Artist.    1877 - 1950

Brother of the above, George Murray.
Born at 9 Schoolhendry Street, Portsoy, (now Institute Street) on the 11th. August 1877 and died at 17, Richmond Road, Upland, Swansea on 17th. November 1950.

Trained as a painter at Edinburgh, London and Paris.

Appointed principal of the School of Art and Director of Art Galleries at Swansea in 1909 and held these positions for the rest of his working life.

Took a particular interest in landscape painting in watercolours.  His output was enormous, and he made it a rule to devote a part of each day to the practice of painting, a rule which he kept up until his death.

Exhibition of his work at Duff House Banff  - Dec 1998 to Jan 1999

Nicol, Alexander.   West Indian Trader.     1879 - 1963 

Parents :-   Charles Nicol and Ann Hay Wood

Died 24 May 1963 aged 84 years in Aberdeen Royal Infirmary, Foresterhill.   Cremated 28th May 1963

Married Dora Douglas who died 30 July 1968

Pioneer in in the processing of liquid pitch or tar.    A lengthy article on his work is contained in the Banffshire Journal of the 4th. March 1941.

Ogilvie,  Patrick, Sir,  8th. of Boyne     ?  -   1714             

8th. Laird of Boyne from 1666 until 1714
It was in the time of Sir Patrick Ogilvie, 8th. of Boyne, that Portsoy got its first improved harbour.  He was a notable man this holder of the thanedom of Boyne, one of the most remarkable men that Banffshire has ever produced.  His principal seat was Boyne Castle ; his lands amongst the most fertile in the North of Scotland, extended from Portsoy to Banff and inland to Culphin ; for nearly quarter of a century he represented Banffshire in the Scots Parliament and in that capacity he was strongly against the Act of Union ; he sat on the Bench of Court of Session as Lord Boyne, and he was also a soldier.   To Portsoy he proved a good friend.  He was one of the improvers of the small harbour the town then had and in the Register of the Privy Council there is to be found a supplication by him dated 1679. 

Favourable regard was had to the supplication and the Lords recommended the clergy to intimate throughout the Kingdom a general contribution.   That was in 1679 and there is evidence that the work proceeded slowly for in 1692 Lord Boyne asked the Town Council of Cullen for men to "dight out the harbour at Portsoy,"    

Sir Patrick Ogilvie was married three times :-   (1)  Anna Grant of Grant  (2)  Anna Douglas of Whittingham (3) Ann Montgomerie

Ogilvie, James, 9th of Boyne.        1667 - 1727 

Eldest son of  Sir Patrick Ogilvie and Anna Grant. 

When the Ogilvie family got into financial difficulties the Boyne Estates were sold to Lord Reidhaven and Seafield in 1709.

James Ogilvie was a keen Jacobite and eventually escaped to France.   Took part in the unsuccessful French descent to Scotland in 1708 and the unsuccessful Jacobite uprising in 1715.  Was at the battle of Sheriffmuir where he was described as “Brigadier Ogilvie.”

After the suppression of the Rising, James Ogilvie, remained hiding in the North until he found an  opportunity to escape to France once again. 
He married Anna, daughter of Major George Arnot of Grange in Fife in February 1688.   She died in February 1718.

In 1721 he married Mdlle Busilie a young French girl, aged about 17.   She died in 1725.

James Ogilvie died in Paris in 1727.
Ogilvie, Walter, Jnr.   Writer in Banff.  Jacobite  (1719- 1746)


In their monumental work on the Jacobites of Aberdeenshire and Banffshire in the forty-five Mr. Alistair and Miss Henrietta Taylor describe the circumstances in connection with the trial of Walter Ogilvie in 1746 as one of the most tragic incidents of the rebel trials.  He was the son of Walter Ogilvie of Badenspink, near Tillynaught, one of the Commissioners of Supply of Banffshire : -


“Walter Ogilvie obtained a lieutenancy in Lord Lewis Gordon’s regiment and was with the Highland Army on its march into England.  On its return he was one of the 18 Scots officers left in the garrison at Carlisle, and was there taken prisoner on 10th. December 1745.  They were all conveyed to London and tried at the Court of St. Margaret’s Hill, Southwark   In the list of those taken at Carlisle, Ogilvie is put down as a Lieutenant in Lord Lewis Gordon’s regiment, but in depositions at his trial three witnesses speak of him as an ensign in the Duke of Perth’s regiment, and one attests that he carried the colours of that regiment into Carlisle.  An eye-witness describes him as being in the Castle of Carlisle “armed with broadsword and dirk, blue bonnet and white cockade.”


At his trial it was stated that he was 28 years of age, being born of “creditable” parents, that his father was still alive, that he was educated as a Protestant and taught the principles of loyalty in the existing monarchy but “having kept company with some of the rebels when they entered Banff, he imbibed their principles and joined the Jacobite Army under Lord Lewis Gordon, who of regard for his family and his natural vivacity, gave him a Lieutenant’s commission.  When his father saw what he contemplated, he used every argument to dissuade him from it; but Walter replied that he was so thoroughly convinced of the righteousness of the cause in which he had resolved to engage that he thought himself bound, both by the laws of God and man, to assist with all his power Prince Charles in recovering his just rights.


He was brought to trial at St. Margaret’s Hill, Southwark, on 23rd. June 1746.  He then asked for witnesses from his native country to prove the force exerted to cause him to join the Jacobite Army.   They were John Thompson of Baronsmill and Alexander Thompson of the same place, also George Cay and Robert Gray, but he apparently neglected to put in an affidavit that the last two were material, and that “he could not safely go to trial without them.”



His second trial took place on 2nd. August, the latter two witnesses not having arrived; he was therefore condemned to be executed. 

On 19th. August the warrant of execution arrived and the prisoners were removed to Newgate to the county goal.  Previous to this they had lived “in a thoughtless jovial manner,” but finding themselves under sentence of death, “they began to be more serious tho’ they continued steadfast in the principles which ruined them.”


Early in the morning of 22nd. August, having been “unchained from the floor, they were brought into the foreyard of the gaol, where their irons were knocked off.”   They were then “all three drawn on one sledge,” McDonald and Nicholson in Highland, Ogilvie in Lowland dress, to the place of execution on Kennington Common, where they spent nearly an hour at their devotions.  Ogilvie read, from Kettlewell, “a prayer for a person who is condemned for the testimony of God’s truth and righteousness.”   He also delivered a paper to the officer of the guards.  None of them spoke to the crowd.  After the halters were fixed to the gallows, the prisoners again prayed for a few minutes before they were executed.  “Ogilvie died very hard, being a robust young man.”  After having hung for 15 minutes (although the order ran, “to be hanged by the neck - but not till they be dead - for they must be cut down alive”) they were all three taken down and laid on the stage, their bodies cut open and their hearts and their bowels taken out and “burnt, before their faces” in a fire, then their heads were cut off.  Their heads and bodies having being taken back in the sledge to the New gaol, were delivered to their friends two days later, and on the evening of the 26th. August were conveyed in three hearses attended by mourning coaches, and were interred in one grave in what was then called “Bloomsbury new burying ground.”

Pirie, Mary.     Schoolmistress and Authoress.  1821  - 1885   

Born at Cotton Lodge Aberdeen to William Pirie, Carpet Manufacturer.

Died 8th. February 1885 aged 64 years.

Highly educated she came to Portsoy in the 1840’s and formed a small private school. 

Her success led to the erection of the Durn Road School but ill-health prevented her ever teaching in it.  Although “Familiar Teaching on Natural History,” and “Flowers, Grasses, and Shrubs” are the only works which Miss Pirie published in book form, she wrote a series of weekly notes on natural history , botany, etc., for the columns of the “Banffshire Reporter” a paper published in Portsoy.   She lived and died in a house in North High Street (now occupied as the Boyne Hotel).    

Robertson,  Alexander Jnr.  Merchant and Smuggler.   1763 -  1790

Christened in the Parish of Botriphnie on 6th. September 1763 and thought to have died in March or April 1790

Was the son of Alexander Robertson, feuer in Newmill, Keith, and Isobel Ord his spouse.

On the death of his father in 1776 decided to join his uncle, George Robertson, merchant and shipowner in Portsoy.

Alexander Robertson, better known as "Mister Sandy" a man of great commercial talent, but of profligate character, died a bankrupt in the Abbey of Holyrood Sanctuary, not it is said without suspicion of having come to his death by unfair means.

Scott,  Alexander.

A noted fraudster of his day.

On the 13th. March 1792 the Sheriff Depute at Banff, James Urquhart, having considered the verdict of assize against Alexander Scott, adjudged, decerned, and declared the said Alexander Scott to be carried from the Bar to the Tolbooth of Banff, to be detained therein until Monday 26th. March, and on that day, betwixt the hours of nine and ten o'clock in the forenoon, to be taken from thence and with his hands tied behind his back, bareheaded, with a rope round his neck, and a label on his breast, having these words in capital letters "ALEXANDER SCOTT, AN INFAMOUS SWINDLER AND CHEAT" and in that form to be drawn through the streets of Banff, accompanied by the Town Drummer, beating the Rogue's March, until he be brought to the west end of the town, and to be carried from thence to the village of Portsoy, and there in the middle of the Square, or area opposite to the house of Mrs. Gordon, vintner, to stand exposed to public view, as on a pillory, for the space of one full hour, and from thence to be set at liberty.

Slater, James – Fisherman, Merchant Seaman, Lorry Driver, Local Historian, Poet, Author.          1903 – 2001

Parents James Slater and Helen Mair, Banff. Born 29.10.1903 at Gordon Cottage, Fountain Street, Banff. Mother died in 1909 and his father was killed on active service in 1916.

Moved to Portsoy with his step-mother after the death of his father.

Married Helen Jane Pirie of Portsoy and moved to Portsoy for the remainder of his life.

Wrote eleven books on the local fishing industry, and the history of Portsoy, including their religious influences. Published articles in the Banffshire Journal, Leopard magazine, and the Press and Journal.

Made a number of broadcasts on the radio on local history and till writing at the age of 96.

Died in Campbell Hospital, Portsoy, on Tuesday, 27th. March 2001 aged 97. 
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James Slater
Smith, James,Shipbuilder.    1819 - 1873

Parents Henry Smith and Elizabeth Wood, Sandend.
Born Sandend.  Christened 4th. April 1819.    Died Portsoy 31st. July 1873  Aged 54. 

Served his apprenticeship as a shipbuilder in Aberdeen settling in Portsoy soon after to set up his own business.

Built some 18 sailing ships (cargo vessels) on the salmon bothy green.  In his later years he turned his hand to building fishing vessels.

Had two brothers, both Shipmasters, Tom and William lost at sea.  

Four of his sons were Shipmasters :-

James was drowned near Gothenburg when the "Fairwind" was wrecked on 11th. September 1903 .   Age 45

Alexander, washed overboard, and lost at sea in the SS. Twilight on the 19th. December 1889.   Age 38

Henry died at Georgetown 20th. Feb 1892  Age 31

John was drowned in Singapore on 14th. February 1911 Age 49

Sutherland, Peter  -  Fishcurer,  1850 -1915

Born Lossiemouth 7th. September 1850 died Portsoy 18th. November 1915

Parents Adam Sutherland and Elizabeth Baikie.

Came to Portsoy as a young man to the well known fishcuring firm of Metheun.  Not long after , he started business on his own until he was joined by his brother, John E. Sutherland, who was later M.P. for Elgin Burghs.   Business established as P and J. Sutherland and soon became a commercial concern with stations all over Britain.  There was even a station established in Sweden.

In 1908 he entered the Town Council and in 1909 was appointed Provost.  Was mainly responsible for the provision of the recreation ground which was named the Sutherland Park when it was officially opened on June 22nd. 1911.   He donated £1000 towards the maintenance of the park.

Other bodies that he was connected with  were the Fordyce Parish Council, the YMCA, the United Free Church and the Portsoy and District Liberal Association.

Director Messrs. Wm Fiddes & Son, boxmakers, Aberdeen and the Banffshire Steam Shipping Company.

He was survived by a widow, Jane Smith, daughter of James Smith, shipowner and shipbuilder, and by his brother, John E. Sutherland, M.P.  

Taylor, George.    Farmer. Shore Porter, Bellman  (The “Sheriff”)     ?      -   1858 


A notable character, larger than life.

A successful farmer at Greendykes in his earlier life

Took Col. Gordon of Park to law when his father died and he was faced with eviction.  George won his case but the farm was let to another when the lease ended. He moved to Portsoy around 1838 and took employment first as a shore porter and then as bellman.

His great hobby, as we have said, was the law.  There was nothing connected with the courts but he was up to.  He could tell the leading Acts of Parliament since the reign of George III - the year which each was passed and the chapters and sections in which anything peculiar was to be found.  He had a most retentive memory for these, and had an inexhaustible fund of precedents and decided cases.  So long as his own means lasted, he was continually at law, and after they failed, he duly attended all the courts of any importance, and discussed the cases when he came home. He also had a very great taste for agriculture, and knew all the farms in the locality, the length of the lease, the nature of the soil, the name of the tenant, and the rent he paid.


During his last fifteen years he called regularly every afternoon (save when out of town) at the shop of John Jack, tailor, Portsoy, and there expatiated on the law, so long as anybody would bear him; and, as he was considered quite "a character" he sometimes had a respectable audience till a very late hour.  During that time, at the instigation of the company, he would have framed summonses, criminal libels, &c., in supposed law cases, which he himself got up for the edification of his hearers. He always named everybody from their occupation, or if they had any peculiarities in their person or dress, or were possessed of a silver-headed cane, George was never at a loss for a designation.   


Although at one time very well off, and latterly in very necessitous circumstances, yet he was never known to complain; but was always gay and cheerful, and met with a welcome reception wherever he went, nothing giving him greater delight than the opportunity of speaking on his favourite subject.

Watson, Alexander.   Royal Navy

Parents : - Not known. (Might be from Whitehills as some church records are missing from the Boyndie parish) 
Alexander Watson, R.N.  married Margaret Crawford daughter of Charles Crawford 16th. Mar 1822.
Family : -
Mary Cameron dgtr of Alex Watson, Master, R.N. & Mgt. Crawford born 17th Decr. 1826

Clementina Strachan dgtr of Alex Watson, R.N. & Margaret Crawford bap. 18th Jan. 1830.. Died 1st. June 1831 aged about 16 months.   Margaret dgtr of Alexander Watson & Margaret Crawford born 2nd Oct. 1833.  Died 5th. June 1885.   Juanna Maria dgtr of Alexander Watson R.N. & Margaret Crawford born 28th April 1835.  Buried 19th. Aug 1885 

married Mr. John Shand Harper, land Surveyor, of St Mary’s Newington, Surrey. 19th Sept. 1866 John McLean son of Alexander Watson, R.N.  and Margaret Crawford born 29th May 1838.

Notes :-
Memorial in Portsoy Cemetery.

By MARY CAMERON in memory of spouse CHARLES CRAWFORD died Portsoy 20th May 1833 aged 67 also grandchildren CLEMENTINA infant daughter of ALEXANDER WATSON, R.N. and MARGARET CRAWFORD died Portsoy 1st June 1837 aged 17 months.   Above MARY CAMERON died Christmas Morning, 1846 aged 77.  ALEXANDER WATSON, R.N. died Portsoy 10th January 1849 aged 59.  MARGARET CRAWFORD spouse of ALEXANDER WATSON, R.N. died February 1869 aged 71

Though Alexander Watson was known locally  as Captain Watson because he commanded some smaller R.N. vessels it has not been ascertained what Royal Naval rank he did attain.
Watson, James. Royal Navy

Born 1774  (Not known if he was related to Alexander Watson)
Parents : - Not known. (Might be from Whitehills as some church records are missing from the Boyndie parish) 
Resided at Nile Cottage, Seafield Terrace Portsoy

Married Frances Peregrine.
Family :- 

William   b. 29th. April 1806 :  Hannah  b. Londonderry 19th February 1808.  Married Dr. George Greig, Portsoy. Died 3rd June 1882 at Burnside Cottage, Portsoy. : James   b. 30th September 1812 : Thomas Peregrine   c. 9th May1814 : Frances   c. 3rd August 1817 : Alexander   c. 28th October 1821.Died 1822 : George Peregrine  c. 17th. August 1823. George Peregrine Watson of Plantation Hamburg, last surviving son died on the 20th June 1873 at Georgetown, Georgetown, Demarara.

Frances Peregrine died August 1825 in childbirth.

James Watson, R.N.  re-married Mary Ann Shand, Banff on 5th March 1833.

James Watson, R.N. died 6th December 1834 aged 60 years.

Mary Ann Shand  died at 9 Glenbank Terrace, Lenzie on the 24th Jan. 1887 

Notes : -

James Watson is thought to have named his home “Nile Cottage” because he had served in that campaign in 1798, but this has not been confirmed.   In 1798 he would have been 24 years of age.  

From the internet : -

Lieut James Watson was in command of the 12 gun brig HMS Mastiff on 5th Jan 1800 when it was wrecked near the Cockle Sands, Yarmouth as it was proceeding towards the northern passage from Yarmouth Roads bound to Leith.  Eight of the crew perished.  Fishermen at Winterton were awarded 150 guineas for saving more than thirty of her crew at great risk to their own lives.

From the Aberdeen Journal, Monday, January 2oth 1800 ; -

Yarmouth Jan7th 1800 – I am sorry to announce the loss of His Majesty’s gun brig HMS Mastiff, Lieutenant James Watson, which during a fog on Sunday last got on the land at Cockle.  Every exertion on the part of the fleet to get to her assistance was fruitless, the sea running with a heavy swell quite over her, which obliged them to abandon their attempt of saving the crew.

On Monday they made another attempt, and I am happy to say that they succeeded so far as to save all the crew, except the surgeon, pilot and six men who fell victims to the watery element.                                     . . . . . . . . . . . .

It has been confirmed that Lieut. James Watson was at the Battle of Copenhagen on the 2nd April 1801 and was master of H.M.S. Volcano.
Though James Watson was known as Captain Watson because he commanded some smaller R.N. vessels it has not been ascertained what Royal Naval rank he did attain.

                . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Property Owners and Tenants at Portsoy – Nile Cottage, Seafield Terrace

1877/78
Proprietor: - Mrs. M.A. Watson, Lenzie       Tenant : - James Hay

1906/07
Proprietor: - Geo. P.H. Watson, Demarara      Tenant : - Miss Isabella Forbes

1939/40
Proprietor: - George Watson, Demarara          Tenant : - W.A. Reid,
Watson, James Anderson ,  Artist  :   1860   -  1930   

Born in the Parish of Slains Aberdeenshire on 15 September 1860

Moved to Portsoy in the 1880’s

Parents :- Peter Watson and Mary Anderson
During 1903 conducted  Drawing and Painting Classes in Portsoy
Mr. James A. Watson, was successful in getting a picture hung in the Leeds Art Gallery, the subject being "Seatown, Portsoy."   Mr. Watson out of 66 applicants, was appointed drawing master in one of the private schools in Harrogate.

Obtained his D.A. at Gray’s Art School

Arts Master at Dunfermline High School for 14 years.

Died at Rosedale, York Street, Dufftown on the 10th. November 1930.
Watson, William, Schoolteacher.  1847-1914

Born in Portsoy, he spent all his life in the town.

Son of William Watson, blacksmith, Roseacre Street, Portsoy
His education was received at the Parish School, the remodelled building now known as the Christian Institute, under the late Mr. Thomas Phillip, who took great pains in fitting him for after life. 

At an early age he opened a school at the Seatown and commenced teaching on his own account. Earnest and diligent, he worked all alone for upwards of twenty years.  He did excellent work in the elementary education of the young, mostly fisher children, of whom he gathered a very considerable company. 

When, after the Education Act had got into thorough working order, and the Seatown School was closed, Mr. Watson was in 1886 taken into the service of Fordyce School Board and given employment in Portsoy School, where his ability was thus fittingly recognised, and he received what was his due reward.

In the larger sphere of labour his activity and resourcefulness continued, until advancing years made it imperative that he should retire.  But this step was only taken so lately as December last, when he was granted a retiring allowance by the School Board.

He led an upright and wonderfully useful life.  As a teacher it may be said that he had a thorough grasp of elementary arithmetic and English, perhaps to a much greater extent than many, favoured with greater advantages, who may have posed higher as instructors of youth.  Mr. Watson will not be forgotten, and perhaps the difficulties he succeeded in overcoming will act as a stimulus to not a few in the course of life's battle to overcome and achieve where they might otherwise fail.

While retiring, Mr. Watson was of a bright and genial disposition, and took a keen and intelligent interest in public questions and all matters connected with the town and district, the concerns of which, now and bygone he knew well.  He was admired and held in the highest respect throughout the entire community. 

Died at his residence, 27 Chapel Street, Portsoy.

THE WILSON FAMILY

LIEUT. ALEXANDER WILSON. R.M. & JEAN GRAY


Alexander Wilson was born in Portsoy in 1774 according to the manuscript on his memorial.


No evidence has come to hand as to who were Alexander’s parents but the following entries appear in the Old Parish Records of Fordyce : -

2nd May 1773.    James Wilson and Ann Inglis both in this Parish contracted and were married.

11th March 1774.  James Wilson Sailor in Portsoy had a child by his wife Ann Inglis baptised and was called Alexander.

Witnesses : - Alexander Robertson, Portsoy and Alexander Brebner, Student.


Because of the small numbers of “Wilsons” in Portsoy in 1774 the possibility of two Alexander Wilsons being born in the Parish of Fordyce in that year is unlikely.


The practice then was that the first son was given the same Christian name as his grandfather.  When Alexander Wilson eventually married and had family he named his first son Edward Pellew after the Admiral he was serving at the time.   Reverting to tradition he named his second son “James” presumably after the baby’s grandfather.  Another child was named “Ann” possibly because the baby’s grandmother was “Anne” 


Alexander Wilson must have had some good reason for residing in Portsoy.  If his parents were James Wilson and Anne Inglis it would be natural for him to reside there. The names of the witnesses at the baptism in 1774, Alexander Robertson and Alexander Brebner lends weight to the idea that James Wilson, Sailor, was a Portsonian of good standing as both of the witnesses had connections with two of the wealthiest merchants in  the town. 


In view of the foregoing it would be reasonable to conclude that James Wilson and Anne Inglis were the parents of Lt. Alexander Wilson, Royal Marines.

​​​​___________


Alexander Wilson enlisted in the Royal Marines and saw action at the 3rd Battle of Ushant in June 1794.  He rose to the rank of 1st. Lieutenant and became Secretary to Admiral Edward Pellew (later Lord Exmouth).


On 10th March 1799 he married Jean Gray in Portsoy.

 Family of Lt. Alexander Wilson: -

Jane : - b. 1800. Married Captain Reid 1822 and had a son and daughter who died unmarried.

Edward Pellew : - b. 1803. Married Maria Constanca da Silva Friere of Bahia and had one son, Edward, who married Felisbella Cintra da Silva.

Anne : - b. 1805.  Married the Rev. Peter Murray 

James : -b. 1807 and drowned at sea in 1827 aged 20  : -

Fleetwood Pellew : - b. 1809. Married Frances Stoddart and had a daughter Frances and son Fleetwood.  Fleetwood died three days after birth.

Emma :- b. 1815   Married John Stronach 1835  and had Jane who married Andrew Nicol : Blanche who married James Allan : Margaret who  married Ernest Messervy : Alice who married J. Roydon Hughes : Constance who married Francis Farquharson

_______

The family memorial in Portsoy cemetery, is a flat stone on your immediate right, close to the path, as you enter the oldest section of the cemetery by the outer gate entrance : -


In affectionate memory of 1st Lieut ALEXANDER WILSON ROYAL MARINES a zealous officer and sincere Christian, died at Portsoy 24 Sept. 1817, age 43; his son JAMES who was lost at sea 12 February 1827, age. 20.   Also Mrs. JEAN GRAY widow of the above Lieut. WILSON died at Keith 8 June 1847, age 72. Also in affectionate remembrance of EMMA daughter of the above Lieut. Wilson and Jean Gray and widow of John Stronach late of Muiryfold, Grange died Portsoy 19 Aug. 1870, age 54.   Sir EDWARD PELLEW WILSON, Knight of the Rosa died Bahia, Brazil 11 Nov. 1887, age 84.   FLEETWOOD PELLEW WILSON of Wappingham Manor, Northumberland died 24 Apr. 1888, age 76, sons of the above.  Also ANN WILSON, or MURRAY, last survivor of the family born 1805 died 1892.   (Round edge) Also erected to the memory of JAMES DUFF STRONACH, son of John & Emma and Stronach died Portsoy 29 May 1904, age 66. 

Memorial Window at Portsoy

Lieut. Wilson and his two sons, Edward and Fleetwood are remembered by a memorial window placed in St. John’s Episcopal Church, Portsoy. The spot selected is a centre one on the south side of the edifice.  The window is arched, with a couple of centre columns, the upper portion being divided into three sub-sections. 
At the bottom of the three panels inscriptions are inserted, showing forth to whose memory the window has been placed there.  Beginning at the left hand side the inscription reads: - "In memory of Edward Pellew Wilson, who died at Bahia, S.A., 11th November 1887, aged 87 years."    The inscription which occupies the centre panel reads: - "In memory of Alexander Wilson, R.N. who died at Portsoy 24 Sept 1817 aged 43 years."     The panel to the right contains the following inscription: - "In memory of Fleetwood Pellow Wilson, who died at Bournemouth 24th. April 1888, aged 77 years."   Underneath, on a freestone tablet, which also forms the base of the window, there appears the following in large raised letters: -   "Erected by Mrs. Ann Wilson or Murray, widow of the Rev. Peter Murray, in loving remembrance of her father and brothers."

_____________

From the Internet : - http://www.wilsonsons.com.br/ingles/saga/index.asp
The Wilson Sons Saga.


The beautiful bay two leagues wide, stretching from Bonfim to the Cape of Santo Antonio, showed the other side of its enchantment in the storm which descended upon Salvador. Dozens of boats, schooners, brigs and tenders balanced themselves dangerously on the rough waters, their hulls listing, their sails in rags, lashed by all the winds and spurned by all the saints,


The English brig, loaded with coal, tired of fighting the unknown, the sandbanks, the reefs, the fury of the orixas (Afro‑Brazilian deities). The great hull shivers, shrieks, bends and finally gives up to Iemanja ( Goddess of the Seas ).


Three months later, a rosy faced young man lands in the Lower City, darting his eyes over the profusion of colours and bazaars, greets the authority who is awaiting him for the evaluation of the losses and the possible rescue of the wreckage. Together they cross the only road that ran parallel to the sea, where the Public Warehouse, the Customs House and the Commodities Exchange buildings follow each other in succession. Fascinated, the traveller inhales the aromas of cooked cassava and of tapioca, of freshly picked mangoes and cashew fruits, wriggles past the hawkers of snuff and parrots shouting their wares, avoiding tinkers, herbs and potions spread on the curb and the bracelets, glass beads and monkeys being pushed at the pedestrians.


In Portsoy, thousands of miles away, in the Scottish highlands, his family did not even dream that they would never see him again. Edward Pellew Wilson, the rosy youth with large side whiskers, unbuckles his chest and trunks and decides to stay, bewitched by the smells and colours of the New World, and foreseeing infinite business possibilities.


This was the end of the 1820's.


Finally, Edward starts his own business in 1837, Wilson Sons & Company, associated with his younger brother Fleetwood, who takes on the other side of the operation, in London,


When registering the company in the Commercial Registry of Rio de Janeiro, under number 311, Edward could not have foreseen the future that was being traced ... that 160 years later, on the eve of the 21st century, Wilsons would have transformed itself into the biggest towage company in Latin America, the third biggest in the American Continent and the biggest port operator in Brazil, the only company in the country capable of operating in each and every maritime trade area.


But let us go back to the province of Recife where he landed in the middle of the 1850's. He establishes his firms there, under the corporate name of Wilson Brothers and Co., managing the transport of dozens of products, developing the shipping area, the work in the port, and mounting his own shipyard. He starts courting Felisbella Ernestina Cintra da Silva, daughter of a powerful Portuguese shipowner and tradesman, marrying her one year later.


Edward Wilson joins forces with John Cameron Grant, opens a company, and like new bandeirantes, (members of an armed band of early explorers in Brazil), they immediately begin their treasure hunt in Ilheus, Porto Seguro, Marau and Matapira, in Bahia. This event will make Wilson known as the forerunner in the search for oil in the country, and is so described in the "Geographic Dictionary of Mines in Brazil", published in 1885 by Francisco Ignicio Ferreira.


However, the expedition is ill‑fated. Years and thousands of pounds later, Grant kills an employee and runs away to England. The result of the adventure: a loss of half a million golden sovereigns. The damage of this incident would end here if it were not for an unusual development some years later, shortly before the turn of the new century.


Edward is invited to associate himself with a small company that carries out transport from England to Holland, carrying tar in barges, and is responsible for the processing and distribution of fuel for fighting. The businessman invites Edward to be a partner and he, still traumatized by the Bahia experience, backs off and announces: "There is no future in this business."


The company was SHELL.


In spite of this incident, the family business thrives. Wilson takes part in a consortia undertaking of the most ambitious projects of that time, such as Ferrovia Great Western of Brazil, today called Rede Ferrovi Aria Federal (the federal railway), or the construction of the first dry dock in the country, in the Mocangue Pequeno Island In Guanabara Bay... inaugurated by Dom Pedro II in 1869 and considered the biggest private work constructed up to then.


In Bahia, it joins other English shareholders in the most daring projects of the time; such as gas lighting. They fight simultaneously on two fronts: for progress with the sugar producers who do not want the railway in their cane plantations, and with the owners of water‑front warehouses, who would lose a good source of income if new ports appeared.


Some of the targets include: the project for the new port, the "Bahia Docks Company Limited", and the "Bahia and San Francisco Railway", of which only the first projected stretch is constructed, never reaching Juazeiro and Sao Francisco,




In a daring move to increase the coal business, in 1872, Wilson opens its first branch in South America, in Montevideo, associated with Yarrow, Hett & Company. Up to then, the business had been carried out by representatives.


When the authorities formally deliver the license in September 1878, issued by the Province of Pernambuco, it gives the green light not only for Wilson Brothers, but also for Wilson Sons & Co., Ltd. At that point, the progress of both companies is running high. Their list of clients includes dozens and dozens of prestigious names. It is from this period that another yellowed relic comes: the decree that appoints Wilson as agent for the steamship lines that ran between Brazil and Japan.


They are already operating in Recife with tugs, barges and fighters, complete workshops with slipways in the docks of Santa Rita, In the South of the port, and a floating workshop for repairs alongside the ships. Moreover, during the wars that the world will get involved with in the first half of the coming century, these workshops will play an important role repairing allied minesweepers that are part of the convoys on the Brazilian coast.

________

Banffshire Journal, May 1st 1888 : -

DEATH OF MR FLEETWOOD PELLEW WILSON.

Many will learn with regret of the death of Mr. Fleetwood Pellew Wilson. That event took place at Bournemouth on Tuesday. Mr. Wilson, who was in his seventy-ninth year, had ten days before caught a chill in London. He went down to Bournemouth for a change of air, but did not rally from the effects of the cold. Gradually his strength sank, but his mind remained quite clear. To the last he was conscious of everything and every one about him. His daughter, and only child, was with him, and life passed away quietly at ten minutes to eight o'clock in the morning.

Mr. Fleetwood Wilson was a native of the town of Portsoy. His father, Mr. Alexander Wilson, had been an officer in the Royal Marines, and spent the latter part of his life in Portsoy. There was a family of three boys and three daughters. It may be noted that Mr. Wilson, while in the Navy, held the post of secretary to Lord Exmouth Admiral of the Fleet. The kindly relation in which he stood to the Admiral. as well as high admiration of his qualities, led Mr. Wilson to name his sons after members of the family of Pellew, of which Lord Exmouth was the head. The two brothers, Edward and Fleetwood Pellew Wilson were brought up together and educated at the school of Portsoy. 


Edward Pellew Wilson at an early age went to Brazil, and there became successful a merchant. Taking a leading part in many matters of public interest, be was five-and-twenty years ago rewarded with the honour of knighthood from the Emperor of Brazil. Sir Edward Pellew Wilson continued to reside in Bahia, and died there on 11th November last.

Fleetwood Pellew Wilson was born on 3rd. June 1809.   As soon as he was able to engage in business he went from Portsoy to join big brother in Brazil.    There he remained for about twenty years.  Returning to this country, he took up his residence permanently in London for the purpose of carrying on the business there in connection with the Brazilian trade.    Other enterprises also shared his time and attention.    For many years, up to the time of his death, be was an active director of the Union Bank of London.

Mr. Fleetwood Wilson owned a residence in Portman Square, London. He also acquired the fine property of Wappenham Manor in Northamptonshire and usually lived a part of the year there. Of that county he was a Deputy-Lieutenant, and was also upon the Commission of the Peace. Being a keen sportsman, he for many years rented shootings and fishings in the north.

For about twenty years he was lessee of Knockando House on Speyside with fishings in the river and shootings over a stretch of moors on the left bank. Subsequently he spent the autumn for some years on Deeside; and latterly till within a couple of years ago, at Eden on the Deveron near Banff.

Every season Mr. Wilson paid a visit to his native town. For seven and twenty successive years he sent a present of five guineas to provide a Christmas dinner for poor people in Portsoy. About eight years ago made the town a gift of the public clock and chime of bells in the tower of the Parish Church at Portsoy, At the time be made the latter gift he was entertained at a banquet and publicly thanked by a large body of the leading inhabitants. Many young men were sent into the business world by the assistance of Mr. Wilson, who manifested kindness to everybody with whom he was brought into connection.

Once seen Mr. Fleetwood Wilson was not readily forgotten. Tall and active, he was a handsome old gentleman. His portrait, full length, and magnificent as a work of art, was in the Royal Exhibition some years ago, and attracted considerable notice.

While in Brazil. Mr. Fleetwood Wilson married Miss Fanny Stoddart by whom he was long predeceased. They had two children, a boy and girl. The former died early, and the latter Miss Wilson, now inherits her father's fortune and properties. Mr. Wilson was the last except one of his family. His only surviving sister is Mrs. Murray, Portsoy, widow of the late Rev. Peter Murray, minister of the Parish Church there.


The remains of Mr. Fleetwood Wilson were conveyed to his London residence, and on Saturday forenoon were interred in Kensal Green Cemetery.
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